
 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -1-  March 14, 2017 

ALASKA STATE LEGISLATURE 
HOUSE HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES STANDING COMMITTEE 

March 14, 2017 
3:22 p.m. 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Representative Ivy Spohnholz, Chair 
Representative Bryce Edgmon, Vice Chair 
Representative Sam Kito 
Representative David Eastman 
Representative Jennifer Johnston 
Representative Colleen Sullivan-Leonard 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT 
 
Representative Geran Tarr 
Representative Matt Claman (alternate) 
Representative Dan Saddler (alternate) 
 
COMMITTEE CALENDAR 
 
HOUSE BILL NO. 103 
"An Act relating to the practice of optometry." 
 
 - HEARD & HELD 
 
HOUSE BILL NO. 174 
"An Act extending the governor's declaration of disaster 
emergency to address the opioid epidemic; and providing for an 
effective date." 
 
 - MOVED HB 174 OUT OF COMMITTEE 
 
HOUSE BILL NO. 54 
"An Act relating to the voluntary termination of life by 
terminally ill individuals; and providing for an effective 
date."  
 
 - BILL HEARING CANCELED 
 
HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 2 
"Urging Governor Bill Walker to join with the Alaska State 
Legislature to respond to the public and behavioral health 
epidemic of adverse childhood experiences by establishing a 
statewide policy and providing programs to address this 
epidemic." 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -2-  March 14, 2017 

 
 - BILL HEARING CANCELED 
 
PREVIOUS COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
BILL: HB 103 
SHORT TITLE: OPTOMETRY & OPTOMETRISTS 
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATIVE(s) SPOHNHOLZ 
 
02/03/17 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS 
02/03/17 (H) HSS, L&C 
03/14/17 (H) HSS AT 3:00 PM CAPITOL 106 
 
BILL: HB 174 
SHORT TITLE: EXTEND DISASTER EMERGENCY: OPIOID EPIDEMIC 
SPONSOR(s): RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR 
 
03/10/17 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS 
03/10/17 (H) HSS 
03/14/17 (H) HSS AT 3:00 PM CAPITOL 106 
 
WITNESS REGISTER 
 
BERNICE NISBETT, Staff 
Representative Ivy Spohnholz 
Alaska State Legislature 
Juneau, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Presented HB 103 on behalf of the bill 
sponsor, Representative Spohnholz. 
 
PAUL BARNEY, OD, Chair 
Alaska Board of Optometry 
Anchorage, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 103. 
 
JEFF GONNASON, OD, Legislative Chair 
Alaska Optometric Association 
Anchorage, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 103. 
 
HARRIET MILKS, Assistant Attorney General 
Commercial and Fair Business Section 
Civil Division (Juneau) 
Department of Law 
Juneau, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified during discussion of HB 103. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -3-  March 14, 2017 

JAY BUTLER, MD, Chief Medical Officer/ DPH Director 
Central Office 
Division of Public Health 
Department of Health and Social Services 
Anchorage, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified during discussion of HB 174. 
 
STACIE KRALY, Chief Assistant Attorney General 
Statewide Section Supervisor 
Human Services Section 
Civil Division (Juneau) 
Department of Law 
Juneau, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified during discussion of HB 174. 
 
VALERIE DAVIDSON, Commissioner 
Office of the Commissioner 
Department of Health and Social Services (DHSS) 
Juneau, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified during discussion of HB 174. 
 
TERRIA WALTERS, President, Founder 
Fallen Up Ministries 
Palmer, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 174. 
 
MARK WEAVER, Vice President 
Fallen Up Ministries 
Wasilla, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 174. 
 
SERENA ESPINOZA, Vice President 
Real About Addiction 
Board Administrator 
Fallen Up Ministries 
Wasilla, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 174. 
 
KARA NELSON, Director 
Haven House, Juneau 
Juneau, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 174. 
 
JOHN GREEN 
Mat Su Opiate Task Force 
Matanuska-Susitna, Alaska 
POSITION STATEMENT:  Testified in support of HB 174. 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -4-  March 14, 2017 

 
ACTION NARRATIVE 
 
3:22:07 PM 
 
CHAIR IVY SPOHNHOLZ called the House Health and Social Services 
Standing Committee meeting to order at 3:22 p.m.  
Representatives Spohnholz, Edgmon, Kito, and Eastman were 
present at the call to order.  Representatives Johnston and 
Sullivan-Leonard arrived as the meeting was in progress. 
 

HB 103-OPTOMETRY & OPTOMETRISTS 
 
3:23:22 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ announced that the first order of business would 
be HOUSE BILL NO. 103, "An Act relating to the practice of 
optometry." 
 
3:23:37 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ, as the sponsor of the proposed bill, offered 
some insights for the purpose and intent of HB 103.  She 
explained that the bill gave authority to the Board of Optometry 
to regulate the practice of optometry and assured that the Board 
would have the opportunity to update its educational standards, 
continuing education standards, and scope of practice based on 
the best practices and available evidence.  She emphasized that 
the proposed bill would not allow optometrists to provide 
services outside their scope of practice, which included 
performance of surgeries.  The proposed bill would allow for the 
Board of Optometry to utilize the regulatory process to manage 
themselves, similar to doctors, nurses, and midwives.  She 
declared that a robust process existed which ensured thoughtful 
consideration and opportunity for public testimony for any 
proposed changes.  She declared her desire to "get the 
legislature out of the business of managing optometry in the 
State of Alaska." 
 
3:25:48 PM 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EDGMON moved to adopt the proposed committee 
substitute (CS) for HB 103, labeled 30-LS0459\D, Bruce, 2/21/17, 
as the working document. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ objected for discussion. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -5-  March 14, 2017 

3:26:23 PM 
 
BERNICE NISBETT, Staff, Representative Ivy Spohnholz, Alaska 
State Legislature, paraphrased from the sponsor statement 
[included in members' packets], which read as follows [original 
punctuation provided]:   
 

HB 103 modernizes and updates the Alaska Optometry 
Statute, as many parts are over 50 years old. It 
allows the optometry board the authority to regulate 
its practice the same as other prescribing health 
professions such as dentistry, medicine and nursing. 
This bill also allows the board to continue to adopt 
regulations, updated to current practice and moves the 
continuing education (CE) requirements back into 
regulations. Continuing education is still required by 
current statute, but the hours and subjects will be 
determined by the board as with other professions. 
This change allows the board flexibility to control CE 
requirements and is recommended by the Department of 
Commerce, Community and Economic Development. The 
current regulations require more CE hours than the 
statute subsection deleted by this bill. HB 103 allows 
the optometry board to determine prescribed drug 
schedules, including standards and limitations on 
practice determined by the board. The bill ensures 
that no licensee may perform any procedure beyond the 
scope of the licensee’s education, training, and 
experience as established by the board. This allows 
for future new and improved diagnostic and therapeutic 
procedures as determined by the board, while not 
having to return to the legislature for every new 
technological advance, which is currently the case and 
unnecessarily burdensome. The optometry definition in 
this bill is updated to reflect current and modern-day 
practice. 

 
MS. NISBETT paraphrased from the Sectional Analysis of the bill 
[included in members' packets], which read as follows [original 
punctuation provided]:   
 

Section 1 AS.08.72.050 (4)(6) updates very old 
statutes to indicate that regulations shall be adopted 
to govern the current prescription and use of 
pharmaceutical agents; and develop uniform standards 
for the practice of optometry. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -6-  March 14, 2017 

Section 2 AS.08.72.060 (c)(4) the board shall publish 
advisory opinions regarding standards for the practice 
of optometry. 
 
Section 3 AS 08.72.181(d) moves the continuing 
education (CE) requirements back into regulation, as 
desired by the Department of Commerce, Community and 
Economic Development. Continuing education is still 
required by current statute, but the hours and 
subjects will be determined by the board. 
 
Section 4 AS 08.72.272(a) clarifies the current 
statute for the board to regulate pharmaceutical agent 
prescription including standards and limitations on 
practice determined by the board. 
 
Section 5 AS 08.72.278 Limitation on practice adds a 
new section that sets limitations on services, 
ensuring that the board may not authorize any 
procedure beyond the scope of the licensee’s education 
and experience. 
 
Section 6 AS 08.72.300(3) updates the optometry 
definition to reflect current practice. 
 
Section 7 Effective date for Section 2. This is 
because (3) of Section 2 was added to statute in 2016 
via Senate Bill 74, the Medicaid Reform bill, and it 
had the effective date of July 2017, so (4) is written 
to comply with that date as well. (per Legislative 
Drafting) 
 

REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked what the biggest problem was which 
the proposed bill would address. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ said that the discussion was still for 
distinguishing the proposed committee substitute from the 
original bill. 
 
MS. NISBETT, in response to Representative Eastman, offered her 
belief that the biggest issue was for definitions of ophthalmic 
surgery and non-invasive procedures, which had been removed. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ removed her objection.  There being no further 
objection, the proposed committee substitute (CS) for HB 103, 
labeled 30-LS0459\D, Bruce, 2/21/17, was adopted as the working 
document. 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -7-  March 14, 2017 

 
3:31:16 PM 
 
PAUL BARNEY, OD, Chair, Alaska Board of Optometry, shared his 
background, including his past presidency of the Alaska 
Optometric Association, and stated his support for the proposed 
bill as it would allow the Board of Optometry to regulate the 
details of the practice of optometry, similar to the regulation 
of  advanced practice nurses, dentists, and medical doctors.  He 
stated that this would not set new precedence in health care as 
other health care providers were regulated in this same way in 
the state.  The proposed bill would give optometrists a better 
opportunity to practice at the highest level of education by 
allowing the Board of Optometry to write regulations 
commensurate with educational advances.  He pointed out that the 
current optometry statute was written more than 40 years ago, 
and it required that optometry pursue a statute change whenever 
there were advances in education and technology.  He noted that 
statute changes were costly and time consuming.  He added that 
the board could not promulgate regulations, practices, or 
procedures that were beyond the education of optometrists, and 
that the board was overseen by the Department of Law, similar to 
other health care boards, which would ensure that the 
regulations were within the scope of optometric education.  He 
stated that the medical legal system and the insurance system 
also ensured safeguards, as any health care provider providing 
care outside their education was subject to disciplinary action 
by the board as well as serious medical legal ramifications.  He 
noted that, as insurance providers did not pay providers for 
care outside the scope of education, there was not any incentive 
for any health care provider to provide care outside their 
education.  He added that there were serious consequences.  He 
assured that the primary concern of the board was for the safety 
of the public.  He declared that optometrists were conservative 
and cautious practitioners, which would not change with passage 
of the proposed bill.  He stated that the proposed bill would 
put the regulatory details for the practice of optometry in the 
Board of Optometry, as they could incorporate new technologies 
and advances in eye care as they occur.  He reported that 
optometry provided about 70 percent of the eye care in the 
United States, and often in rural areas, optometrists were the 
only eye care providers in the community. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE SULLIVAN-LEONARD referred to page 2, line 15, of 
the committee substitute regarding the deletion of the 
continuing education concerning the injection of nontopical 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -8-  March 14, 2017 

therapeutic pharmaceutical agents and asked for Dr. Barney to 
expand on this. 
 
DR. BARNEY explained that optometrists did minor procedures 
which could require injectable anesthetics or steroids.  He said 
that the proposed bill would clean up the statutes and allow the 
Board of Optometry to decide the educational requirements. 
 
3:37:47 PM 
 
JEFF GONNASON, OD, Legislative Chair, Alaska Optometric 
Association, offered some of his background.  He reported that 
the optometry doctorate degree was brought to the same level of 
education as medicine and dentistry more than 45 years ago.  He 
detailed that this included four years of undergraduate school, 
followed by a four year graduate professional doctoral program, 
and then one to two years of residency or advanced education, 
which exactly followed the model for dental school.  He added 
that 66 percent of optometry students were women.  He pointed 
out that advanced practice nursing, dentistry, medicine, and 
optometry were all independent, with their own regulatory 
boards, and were all currently authorized to prescribe drugs, 
including controlled narcotics, in Alaska.  He stated that 
optometrists were defined as physicians by the Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services and were held to the same 
standard of care as other medical professions in the treatment 
of Medicare and Medicaid patients.  He reported that the 
optometry malpractice insurance fee was low, about $485 per year 
for $4 million of coverage.  He relayed that about 150 
optometrists practiced in Alaska, providing the vast majority of 
eye care in the state, and serving more than 80 remote 
locations.  He declared that optometrists were the primary care 
physicians for eye care in Alaska.  He said that antiquated 
state statutes were a barrier to attracting the best new 
doctors.  He declared that proposed HB 103 did not authorize 
optometrists to do anything, it only updated the antiquated 
statutes and gave the State Board of Optometry authority to 
regulate the profession with the sworn duty to protect the 
public.  He said that licensing included professional judgement 
for when to refer patients for specialty care.  He emphasized 
that the proposed bill did not compare optometry with 
ophthalmology.  He offered a comparison of a family doctor with 
a neurosurgeon.  He reiterated that the board would not 
authorize any optometrist to perform a treatment for which they 
were not qualified.  He declared that risk of harm to the public 
had never been an issue.  He declared that the Board of 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -9-  March 14, 2017 

Optometry deserved the same level of respect as the other 
professions.  He stated his support for proposed HB 103. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE JOHNSTON asked about the low cost for malpractice 
insurance. 
 
DR. GONNASON replied that optometrists were very conservative 
and were sued less often.  He relayed that this was based on the 
actuarial tables, although the rates were a bit higher in states 
with more lawyers. 
 
3:44:31 PM 
 
HARRIET MILKS, Assistant Attorney General, Commercial and Fair 
Business Section, Civil Division (Juneau), Department of Law, 
directed attention to page 4 of the administrative regulations 
drafting manual [Included in members' packets] and spoke about 
the flow chart which detailed the steps taken by boards for 
proposals to adopt regulations governing each profession.  She 
noted that the Department of Law (DOL) was always available to 
advise and assist with the process, but DOL did not tell the 
boards how to regulate their professions or get involved in 
policy issues.  The department ensured that the proposed 
regulations were constitutional, and consistent with the 
administrative procedure act.  She called attention to the 
transparency of the process to the public, as every Alaskan 
could see what the licensing boards proposed to adopt as 
regulations.  She reported that DOL ensured that the proposed 
regulations went out for public comment and that public 
questions could be submitted.  Once the regulation was put out 
for public notice and the public comments were received, the 
board would meet in a noticed public meeting, and discuss the 
public comments.  If the regulations were adopted, they were 
sent to DOL for review to ensure constitutionality, and not 
beyond the scope of the authority of the board.  She explained 
that advisory opinions were observations about the way a 
practice might happen in a licensed program consistent with the 
regulations.  These advisory opinions were not law, and were not 
brought to DOL for vetting.  She reminded the committee that 
things changed, such as new treatment modalities and daily 
issues that could not be anticipated.  She said that boards 
could also ask the DOL to look at advisory opinions. 
 
3:50:33 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ said that HB 103 would be held over. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -10-  March 14, 2017 

HB 174-EXTEND DISASTER EMERGENCY: OPIOID EPIDEMIC 
 
3:50:59 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ announced that the final order of business would 
be HOUSE BILL NO. 174, "An Act extending the governor's 
declaration of disaster emergency to address the opioid 
epidemic; and providing for an effective date." 
 
3:51:17 PM 
 
JAY BUTLER, MD, Chief Medical Officer/ DPH Director, Central 
Office, Division of Public Health, Department of Health and 
Social Services, declared that there were challenges with the 
opioid epidemic, as there had been a fourfold increase of death 
from opioids in the past 20 years.  He said that the Department 
of Health and Social Services was awarded a five year grant to 
support opioid overdose prevention programs in 2016.  He said 
that this included distribution of naloxone, the lifesaving drug 
administered for an opioid overdose.  He shared that there was a 
nasal spray form which was now part of the rescue kits in 
Project HOPE, Harm reduction, Overdose Prevention, and 
Education.  He said that Project HOPE had prioritized 
partnerships with the staff of organizations which did not have 
medical direction, but were most likely to be present when an 
overdose occurred.  The department had explored ways to provide 
the kits under a standing medical order, but the authority to 
declare the standing order required a disaster declaration.  He 
added that although there were a number of mechanisms to achieve 
the authority, this seemed to be the way to do it as quickly as 
possible and take advantage of the federal resources that had 
been made available.  Governor Walker issued the declaration on 
February 14, with an anticipated legislative concurrent 
resolution to extend the declaration longer that the than the 30 
day duration defined by Alaska statute.  He emphasized that no 
state general funds were requested to support Project HOPE, as 
it was supported entirely by the federal grant.  Since that 
declaration, 12 partner organizations had received training to 
dispense the medication and provide the kit, and nearly 1300 
kits had been dispensed.  He reported that Legislative Legal 
Services had a different interpretation for the meaning of a 
concurrent resolution and had determined that instead a bill was 
required to extend the declaration and continue distribution of 
the kits under the standing order. 
 
3:54:50 PM 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -11-  March 14, 2017 

DR. BUTLER paraphrased the Sectional Analysis [Included in 
members' packets], which read:   
 

Sec. 1 includes findings on the extent of the public 
health threat; acknowledgement and description of the 
Governor’s disaster declaration; and the need for the 
legislature to extend the declaration to address the 
epidemic. 
 
Sec. 2 extends the February 14, 2017, disaster 
declaration for one year to February 14, 2018. 
 
Sec. 3 makes the effective date retroactive to March 
15, 2017, when the disaster declaration expires. 

 
REPRESENTATIVE JOHNSTON asked if the bill was mainly to 
distribute [naloxone], and if there was any other way to 
accomplish this. 
 
DR. BUTLER explained that naloxone was an FDA (US Food and Drug 
Administration) approved drug which could be acquired with a 
physician's prescription.  To work with the partners in the 
program and distribute the overdose kits, it was necessary to 
have a standing order under the authority of his prescribing 
license, although the best way forward appeared to be as part of 
a disaster declaration. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE JOHNSTON asked if DHSS was looking for further 
federal grants. 
 
DR. BUTLER replied that this disaster declaration would 
primarily achieve the goal of the standing order for the 
naloxone distribution, although other grants and other funding 
sources were being reviewed. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE JOHNSTON asked if the proposed bill was necessary 
to apply for the grants. 
 
DR. BUTLER said they could have applied for the grants without 
the proposed bill. 
 
3:57:54 PM 
 
REPRESENTATIVE KITO asked what would happen after the deadline 
in the disaster declaration of February 14, 2018. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -12-  March 14, 2017 

DR. BUTLER replied that an extension would be necessary if it 
was decided to continue distribution under the standing order. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE KITO asked if there was a designated time frame 
for the grant. 
 
DR. BUTLER replied that this was a 5 year grant, effective 
October 1, 2016, the beginning of the federal fiscal year. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked about the number of heroin overdose 
deaths in 2015. 
 
DR. BUTLER reported that there were 38 deaths when heroin was 
associated or morphine was detected in post mortem.  He said 
that although it was not uncommon for there to be multiple 
drugs, multiple opioids could be recognized at death.  He 
pointed out that the trend was increasing significantly, and 
mirrored other parts of the U.S. and Canada. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked about the number of deaths in 2016. 
 
DR. BUTLER opined that this was in the mid-40s. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked when the final numbers would be 
released. 
 
DR. BUTLER replied that he hoped to have the final numbers by 
the end of March. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE SULLIVAN-LEONARD asked if the statistics were 
heroin related only or opioid and/or heroin related. 
 
DR. BUTLER replied that these were related to heroin, although 
there were more than 80 opioid associated deaths.  He explained 
that prescription opioids were frequently used interchangeably, 
and about 80 percent of heroin users reported that they started 
with prescription opioids. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ asked about the best tool for utilization after 
a year, as proposed HB 174 would expire after one year. 
 
DR. BUTLER said that he was not sure of the best mechanism.  He 
said that current state law did not provide the authority for 
the state medical officer to issue standing orders, which had 
been the reason for the earlier disaster declaration.  He 
declared that the proposed bill was a short term fix for a 
possibly longer term administrative fix. 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -13-  March 14, 2017 

 
4:03:42 PM 
 
STACIE KRALY, Chief Assistant Attorney General, Statewide 
Section Supervisor, Human Services Section, Civil Division 
(Juneau), Department of Law, said that she concurred with the 
testimony of Dr. Butler, that the proposed bill was a response 
to the emergency nature of the event.  She offered her belief 
that an additional statutory fix would be necessary, although it 
would not require extension of the proposed bill.  She relayed 
that it would be necessary to find the authority for Dr. Butler 
to issue the standing orders.  She said that there had been an 
oversight in the passage of Senate Bill 23 last year, which 
created the mechanism for the distribution of naloxone, as it 
did not allow for the chief medical officer to issue standing 
orders, although there was intent for that to be fixed. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ suggested that the proposed bill was an 
intermediate remedy. 
 
MS. KRALY expressed agreement. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked what would be done if the proposed 
bill did not pass. 
 
MS. KRALY replied that, as there would not be any standing order 
for the authority to issue the kits, a statutory change would be 
necessary for the authorization. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked what could be accomplished with 
memorandums of agreement instead of a statutory change. 
 
MS. KRALY offered her belief that, without licensed physicians 
to step in and provide oversight and standing order services, 
the memorandums of understanding or agreement "would not get us 
very far."  She declared that it was necessary for a licensed 
physician to issue the standing order, and without that, there 
would be a large gap period for administering the kits. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EDGMON asked about the zero fiscal note in light 
of page 2, line 6 of the proposed bill which discussed the 
establishment of a statewide overdose response program.  He 
asked "how much teeth" this would have. 
 
DR. BUTLER replied that this was a valuable tool for saving a 
life, but it did not cure addiction.  He stated that the broader 
response needed to include access to care and the de-



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -14-  March 14, 2017 

stigmatizing of addiction.  He explained that addiction was a 
condition of the brain which needed to be managed as a chronic 
health condition.  He added that it was necessary to address 
ways to manage pain, some of the drivers for self-medication, 
and the amount of opioid pain relievers in the community.  He 
reported that the fiscal note focused entirely on the 
aforementioned Project Hope.  He stated that this would be a 
long term emergency response, similar to a major natural 
disaster, with an incident command structure to coordinate the 
prolonged recovery phase. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EDGMON said that he was supportive of the effort 
and the proposed bill, but that he was skeptical in the broader 
sense that the necessary resources to effectively combat 
substance abuse in Alaska were being made available. 
 
DR. BUTLER acknowledged that Representative Edgmon had captured 
the complexity of the issue, although, he pointed out, alcohol 
still killed more Alaskans than opioids.  He added that alcohol 
deaths had not been on the same dramatic increase.  He stated 
that there was not a similar tool for alcohol related mortality. 
 
4:13:16 PM 
 
VALERIE DAVIDSON, Commissioner, Office of the Commissioner, 
Department of Health and Social Services (DHSS), acknowledged 
that the proposed bill would not solve the problem.  She 
explained that Department of Health and Social Services was 
taking a multi-faceted approach with application to "every 
federal dollar that we possibly can" and that they had secured 
four federal grants designed to do different things.  She 
explained that the grant mentioned in the proposed bill would be 
for administration of an immediate lifesaving intervention for 
people during active overdose.  She reported that there were 
additional federal grants about education and prevention, to 
ensure understanding for the dangers of opioids, as well as 
allowing for treatment services.  She relayed that the Alaska 
State Legislature had made funds available in 2016 to provide 
treatment for women with children.  She said that Central 
Peninsula Hospital had received a grant to provide for immediate 
detoxification services.  She reported that DHSS had applied for 
a $2 million grant to allow for medication assisted treatment to 
"assist folks to be able to stay clean" combined with available 
therapy to "get to the root of the problem" "which was why 
people are self-medicating."  She declared that there was not 
any magic treatment or magic pill.  She stated that DHSS was 
also pursuing a [Section] 1115 behavioral health waiver, which 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -15-  March 14, 2017 

would allow for a complete redesign of the behavioral health 
system as it was recognized that there were gaps in the 
continuum of care.  She reported that there were ongoing studies 
for determining "the best place for us to be able to provide 
those services, what are we missing, can we intervene sooner."  
She shared that Alaska had been disproportionately impacted by a 
federal law which precluded facilities with more than 16 beds to 
seek reimbursement from Medicaid.  She reported that DHSS had 
received guidance from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 
Services for working through this with an amended [Section] 1115 
waiver. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE KITO asked for explanation to the limitation on 
16 beds for treatment. 
 
COMMISSIONER DAVIDSON, in response, explained that previously 
individuals experiencing severe mental illness were 
institutionalized.  The U.S. Congress recognized that housing 
those with serious mental illness was not an efficacious way to 
support people, and, instead, to treat people in the least 
restrictive environment.  There was an unintended consequence 
that facilities with more than 16 beds providing for substance 
use disorders were impacted.  She pointed out that this was 
possible in the Lower 48, as there was a larger economy of 
scale, but, as this was not economically feasible in Alaska, it 
impacted the ability to provide more treatment services. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE KITO suggested that, as smaller facilities had 
higher incremental costs, hopefully Alaska could address this 
issue. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN compared the number of heroin deaths to a 
murder epidemic in Alaska.  He said that he was familiar with 
the declaration process, and that the disaster act was designed 
to allow cases of urgent need to bypass the normal 
appropriations process, and allow the administration the 
opportunity to act decisively without the accompanying 
bureaucracy in the budgeting process.  He offered his belief 
that the declaration in the proposed bill would allow the 
governor greater access to funding.  He questioned whether the 
proposed bill was offering this temptation. 
 
COMMISSIONER DAVIDSON explained that the original disaster 
allocation by the governor was "actually drafted extremely 
narrowly and limited the resources available to the state to 
those of the federal grant."  She stated that the zero fiscal 
note [Included in members' packets] accompanying the proposed 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -16-  March 14, 2017 

bill was due to the limits to available federal resources of the 
original disaster declaration. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN, directing attention to the limited 
resources and the stop gap solution of the proposed bill, asked 
what would be the next options. 
 
COMMISSIONER DAVIDSON replied that the current challenge was 
that the Chief Medical Officer did not have the authority in 
state statute to provide the standing order.  She explained that 
DHSS was trying to ensure that its community based partner 
organizations without medical directors or physicians able to 
write a standing order could instead use the standing orders of 
the Chief Medical Officer limited to immediate distribution of 
the naloxone kits, and ensure that as many kits as possible were 
distributed as quickly as possible.  She offered as a longer 
term solution to provide the Chief Medical Officer with the 
authority to issue standing orders when necessary. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked about the liability incurred with 
any mishaps when naloxone was administered. 
 
DR. BUTLER said that he would not be taking this on beyond the 
protections afforded under Senate Bill 23, which focused on 
establishing the guidelines around the training.  He said that, 
as Emergency Medical Services personnel had medical supervision 
and were already carrying the kits, they were not a focus of 
Project HOPE. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE SULLIVAN-LEONARD offered a personal story and 
reflected on the progress of the work in the Matanuska-Susitna 
Valley.  She reminded the committee that there were also epi-
pens for allergic reactions, and that more training and more 
education would have a greater effect on the epidemic. 
 
4:26:18 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ opened public testimony. 
 
4:26:52 PM 
 
TERRIA WALTERS, President, Founder, Fallen Up Ministries, 
offered a personal story, and stated that she was in long term 
recovery.  She spoke about using a calculation for those who had 
lived because of the administration of [naloxone], instead of 
calculating the deaths.  She declared support for HB 174, noting 
that the lack of resources in the state ensured that many 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -17-  March 14, 2017 

individuals would continue to use drugs and take the risk for 
overdose.  She reiterated that the availability of naloxone 
meant that an overdose could be revived.  She reported that 
Fallen Up Ministries was conducting a detoxification project 
which would serve 25 patients, and would be used for data 
collection.  She shared that she had been clean and sober for 
almost 12 years.  She estimated that 129 people died of drug 
overdose daily, declaring that this was a disaster. 
 
4:31:44 PM 
 
MARK WEAVER, Vice President, Fallen Up Ministries, shared his 
background with local opioid task forces and declared his 
support for HB 174.  He offered some of his personal 
experiences.  He opined that a gap in the disaster declaration 
would "just be ridiculous."  He compared [naloxone] to a 
defibrillator or a fire extinguisher.  He stated that once a 
life had been saved, the individual could be directed toward 
available resources for breaking "the entrapment of addiction."  
He noted that many people who did not live in downtown locales 
were struggling.  He declared his desire to help the community.  
He added that most of his group were volunteers. 
 
4:35:16 PM 
 
SERENA ESPINOZA, Vice President, Real About Addiction, Board 
Administrator, Fallen Up Ministries, reported that she was also 
a member of the local opiate task forces.  She stated that she 
had seen too many accidental overdose deaths, and that there 
would have been a chance at recovery if there was access to 
[naloxone].  She declared that it was necessary to distribute 
naloxone and have continued access to it.  She offered her 
belief that non-profit treatment facilities, medical providers, 
emergency responders, families of addicts, and recovery 
advocates would play an important role in saving the lives of 
Alaskans if there was immediate access to the [Project} HOPE 
kits.  She added that the medication disposal bags would also 
play a large role in prevention by keeping opiates out of the 
hands of youth.  She stated her support for the proposed bill. 
 
4:37:49 PM 
 
KARA NELSON, Director, Haven House, Juneau, shared some 
background of Haven House and stated that she was in long term 
recovery.  She said that Haven House, as a recovery residence, 
was in partnership with Project HOPE, and offered help to many 
women in the community.  She shared that they were providing 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -18-  March 14, 2017 

peer support services as volunteers.  She stated her support of 
HB 174 and the extension for the declaration of disaster to 
address the opioid epidemic.  She reiterated that this was a 
place of hope for the many organizations and individuals that 
allowed them to come together and move forward. 
 
4:41:36 PM 
 
JOHN GREEN, Mat Su Opiate Task Force, shared that his daughter 
had died in jail of complications from detoxification.  He 
reported that getting into recovery was full of obstacles and 
barriers, which included required proof of income and waiting 
lists.  It was daunting for a parent to find recovery help for 
their child.  He stated his support of HB 174.  He shared that 
although there was a perception that those for recovery were 
soft on crime, the option to get into recovery was better for 
the community and public safety because once an addict had 
recovered, they became a productive member of society and would 
not continue their criminal behavior.  He referenced a concern 
that naloxone would make addicts more careless, comparing that 
to having air bags in cars and people driving into trees to see 
if they worked.  He emphasized that no one wants to overdose and 
die.  He stated that naloxone offered people a chance to live 
and get into recovery, thereby helping other addicts toward 
sobriety. 
 
4:45:14 PM 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ closed public testimony.  She said that this 
bill was an extremely urgent and important piece of legislation, 
even as it was a small piece of an overall, much broader 
strategy.  She added that the emergency declaration would expire 
in the next day. 
 
4:46:40 PM 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EDGMON moved to report HB 174 out of committee 
with individual recommendations and the accompanying zero fiscal 
note. 
 
4:46:59 PM 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN objected.  He said that he had reviewed 
the disaster declaration, and he offered his understanding that 
it was intended to limit authority to only the federal program.  
He asked for clarification. 
 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -19-  March 14, 2017 

MS. KRALY explained that the emergency declaration had been very 
narrowly drafted within the construct of the statutory 
authorization.  She said that there was a companion statute 
which allowed the department to use the framework to craft a 
public health emergency.  She stated that they took this 
authorization and that the presented documentation provided the 
fiscal analysis along with the declaration which identified how 
the money was limited to the federal grant.  She pointed out 
that this was narrowly crafted to make clear that there would be 
no additional fiscal impact.  She directed attention to AS 
26.23.020 and said that the documentation in the packet, along 
with the declaration, encompassed that detail. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN said that he only had the fiscal note and 
the declaration of disaster which authorized certain things.  He 
offered his belief that the actual statute read that all state 
resources were now at the governor's disposal.  He asked if this 
was the correct declaration. 
 
MS. KRALY replied that the statutory authorization did offer a 
broad array of authority to address an emergency.  She explained 
that the opioid disaster finance plan had limited the funding to 
the $4.1 million from the federal grant.  She said that it had 
been made clear to the governor's office and to the leadership 
of both bodies that no additional authorizations under the 
statute were being sought.  She offered to supply this 
additional documentation. 
 
CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ asked if Representative Eastman had the fiscal 
note, which she opined did address the issue. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN asked if there was anything other than 
the fiscal note. 
 
MS. KRALY reported that a budget document had also been created. 
 
REPRESENTATIVE EASTMAN maintained his objection. 
 
4:52:00 PM 
 
A roll call vote was taken.  Representatives Spohnholz, Kito, 
Sullivan-Leonard, Johnston, and Edgmon voted in favor of HB 174.  
Representative Eastman voted against it.  Therefore, HB 174 was 
reported out of the House Health and Social Services Standing 
Committee by a vote of 5 yeas - 1 nay. 
 
4:53:17 PM 



 
HOUSE HSS COMMITTEE -20-  March 14, 2017 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business before the committee, the House 
Health and Social Services Standing Committee meeting was 
adjourned at 4:53 p.m. 


